
THE
INSTITUTION OF SURVEYORS
AUSTRALIA, SOUTH AUSTRALIA DIVISION
INCORPORATED

RULES

Adopted 5 August 2009

As amended 22 May 2010; 20 September 2017; 19 September 2018 and 16 September 2020

Table of contents

1.	NAME	4
2.	OBJECTS	4
3.	DEFINITIONS	5
4.	PROPERTY	6
5.	MEMBERSHIP	6
6.	MEMBERSHIP - Qualifications for Membership	6
7.	MEMBERSHIP - The Membership List	7
8.	MEMBERSHIP - Proposals for Admission	7
8A	Emeritus Surveyor	7
9.	MEMBERSHIP - Resignation	7
10.	SURVEYORS BOARD OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA	7
11.	BOARD - Election	9
12.	BOARD - Meetings	9
13.	BOARD – Proceedings	10
14.	BOARD - Powers	10
15.	REGISTRAR	11
16.	TREASURER	11
17.	FINANCIAL - Provisions and Procedure	11
18.	REGISTRATION AND LICENCE RENEWAL FEES	12
19.	AUDITORS	12
20.	MEETINGS – Annual	12
21.	MEETINGS - Special	12
22.	MEETINGS - Notices	13
23.	MEETINGS - Proceedings	13
24.	MEETINGS - Voting	13
25.	MEETINGS - Disputes	14

26.	PRIVILEGED COMMUNICATIONS	14
27.	SEAL OF THE DIVISION	14
28.	INDEMNITY OF MEMBERS	14
29.	PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE	14
30.	ALTERATION TO RULES	15
31.	WINDING UP	15
32.	NOTIFICATION	15
33.	POLICY STATEMENTS	15
34.	TRANSITIONAL – Membership	15
	Appendix A	17

**THE INSTITUTION OF SURVEYORS AUSTRALIA,
SOUTH AUSTRALIA DIVISION INC
RULES**

1. NAME

The **NAME** of the Association is The Institution of Surveyors Australia, South Australia Division Incorporated.

2. OBJECTS

The objects for which the Division is established include the following:

- 2.1 to promote the science and practice of surveying in all its branches and the usefulness and the efficiency of persons engaged therein;
- 2.2 to provide and maintain high standards of competence and conduct in surveying practice;
- 2.3 to perform the duties and fulfil the functions provided for in the Act;
- 2.4 to secure uniformity of professional practice;
- 2.5 to represent, generally the views and to maintain and raise the integrity and status and character of the profession of surveying;
- 2.6 to provide a competent and sufficient authority to pronounce the opinion of the whole profession upon the conduct of any of its members;
- 2.7 To work co-operatively with the University of South Australia and other tertiary institutions for education of professional surveyors; to provide a fund to establish scholarships or annual prizes to students in Surveying;
- 2.8 to acquire, or dispose of, any assets, rights and privileges which the Division may regard as necessary or convenient for advancing the interests of the profession;
- 2.9 to purchase, take on lease or exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any real and personal property and to erect any building or buildings required for the purposes of the Division;
- 2.10 to invest upon such securities as may from time to time be determined the monies of the Division not immediately required for the attainment of the above objects;
- 2.11 to sell, improve, lease, mortgage, dispose of or otherwise deal with all or any part of the property of the Division;
- 2.12 to accept any gift or property of any nature or kind whether subject to any Trust or otherwise;
- 2.13 to cooperate with any other institution or association having objects altogether or in part similar to the objects of the Division;

- 2.14 to exercise all the powers referred to in section 25 of The Associations Incorporation Act 1985; and
- 2.15 to do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the above objects, and for any or all of these said purposes to petition Parliament or take such other proceedings as may be deemed expedient.

3. DEFINITIONS

In these Rules unless there is something in the subject or context inconsistent therewith:

- 3.1 ‘Act’ and the ‘Survey Act’ means the Survey Act 1992 of the State of South Australia;
- 3.2 ‘Board’ means the Surveyors Board of South Australia established by the Division;
- 3.3 ‘Continuing Member’ means a Member pursuant to Rule 34.3;
- 3.4 ‘Division’ means the Institution of Surveyors Australia South Australia Division Incorporated;
- 3.5 ‘Division Circular’ means the circular referred to in Rule 32.1;
- 3.6 ‘Emeritus Surveyor’ means a member pursuant to rule 8A;
- 3.7 ‘Financial Year’ of the Division shall be as allowable under the Act;
- 3.8 ‘Land Surveying Commission’ means the relevant Commission relating to land surveying established pursuant to Clause 28 of the Constitution of SSSI;
- 3.9 ‘Member’ means a Member pursuant to Rules 6 and 7;
- 3.10 ‘Membership List’ means the list of all members of the Division;
- 3.11 ‘Minister’ means the Minister of the Crown whose portfolio includes responsibility for the Survey Act;
- 3.12 ‘Office Bearer’ means any member holding honorary office in the Division for the time being;
- 3.13 ‘Professional Practice Rules of Surveyors Board of South Australia’ means the Professional Practice Rules of the Surveyors Board – Code of Ethics in Appendix A as altered by By-Laws made pursuant to Rule 29.1;
- 3.14 ‘Regional Committee’ means the Regional Committee of the South Australia Region established pursuant to Clause 27 of the Constitution of SSSI;
- 3.15 ‘Register’ means the register of all licensed and registered surveyors required pursuant to the provisions of the Survey Act;
- 3.16 ‘Registrar’ means the Registrar appointed by the Division;

- 3.17 'Regulations' means the Survey Regulations 2020 being regulations made under the Act;
- 3.18 'South Australia Region' means the South Australia Region established pursuant to Clause 27 of the Constitution of SSSI;
- 3.19 'SSSI' means the Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited (ABN 22 135 572 815);
- 3.20 'Standing Operating Procedures' means operation procedures established by the Board pursuant to rule 14.1.3;
- 3.21 'Surveyor' means a licensed or registered surveyor licensed or registered pursuant to the Act;
- 3.22 'Surveyors Board' means the Surveyors Board of South Australia established by the Division;
- 3.23 'Surveyor-General' means the Surveyor-General referred to in the Survey Act.
- 3.24 Words importing the singular number only include the plural number and vice versa.

4. **PROPERTY**

- 4.1 The income and property of the Division howsoever and whensoever derived shall be applied solely towards the attainment of promotion of the objects of the Division, and no portion thereof shall be paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of dividend or bonus or by way of profit to the members of the Division provided always that nothing herein contained shall prevent the payment in good faith of remuneration to any officer or servant of the Division, or to any member of the Division in return for any services actually rendered to the Division, or of the reasonable expenses incurred by any member of the Division in attending meetings or otherwise undertaking business of the Division at the instance of the Board, or prevent the payment of honoraria to office bearers.
- 4.2 If, on the winding up or dissolution of the Division, there remains after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities any property whatsoever, then the same shall not be paid to, or distributed among, members of the Division, but shall be given or transferred to any other Corporation or Association having objects the same, or similar to, the objects of the Division.

5. **MEMBERSHIP**

There shall be two classes of membership, Emeritus Surveyors and Members.

6. **MEMBERSHIP - Qualifications for Membership**

- 6.1 Members must be licensed or registered as a surveyor pursuant to the Survey Act.
- 6.2 An Emeritus Surveyor shall have been a long standing member of the Division or a former member of the Division of Seniority or service to the Division.

7. MEMBERSHIP - The Membership List

- 7.1 The Registrar shall keep and maintain from time to time the Membership List and the Membership List shall contain such information as the Board may from time to time require. Every member shall furnish the Registrar with all information required when called upon so to do.
- 7.2 The Membership List shall be kept in such a form as to readily show the various classes of membership.

8. MEMBERSHIP - Proposals for Admission

- 8.1 A proposal for admission as a member class except an Emeritus Surveyor shall be in accordance with a prescribed form in which the applicant's signature name, postal address, qualifications or registration under the Survey Act shall be stated and which shall contain an undertaking by the candidate if and when admitted to conform with these Rules.
- 8.2 A proposal for admission as a Member of the Division shall be sent in the first instance to the Registrar. The suitability of a candidate for admission into the class of Member shall be determined by the Board following consideration of any recommendation made thereon by the Registrar.
- 8.3 When an applicant is admitted the applicant shall be notified by the Registrar and his or her name shall be enrolled on the Membership List of the Division.

8A Emeritus Surveyor

- 8A.1 Two Members of the Division may nominate a person as an Emeritus Surveyor.
- 8A.2 Such class of membership shall be honorary and upon such nomination being received by the Division the nomination shall be considered by the Board at its next regular meeting and the Board may appoint the nominee as an Emeritus Surveyor.
- 8A.3 Upon appointment the provisions of Rule 8 shall not apply to Emeritus Surveyors.
- 8A.4 An Emeritus Surveyor shall not be a Member.
- 8A.5 Emeritus Surveyors shall not pay any fees to the Division.

9. MEMBERSHIP - Resignation

A member of any class desiring to discontinue membership of the Division shall tender his or her resignation in writing to the Registrar and the Board shall accept the resignation.

10. SURVEYORS BOARD OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA

- 10.1 The affairs of the Division are to be managed by a body to be called the Surveyors Board of South Australia.
- 10.2 The Surveyors Board of South Australia shall consist of the following office bearers:
- 10.2.1 Chairman;

- 10.2.2 Treasurer;
 - 10.2.3 three Committee Members;
 - 10.2.4 a person engaged in the teaching of surveying at an institution of tertiary education appointed by the Board;
 - 10.2.5 the person elected to the Regional Committee of the SSSI by members of the Land Surveying Commission, or the nominee of that person, ex officio;
 - 10.2.6 Surveyor General, ex officio; and
 - 10.2.7 an eighth person appointed by the Board.
- 10.3 No person other than a Member shall be eligible for election to the Board.
- 10.4 Subject to clause 10.10, the tenure of office of the Board members shall be two years provided that such members shall be eligible for re-election.
- 10.5 The Board shall elect the Chairman and the Treasurer from the elected members of the Board.
- 10.6 The Chairman shall not be the Treasurer.
- 10.7 If through any cause the office of Chairman or Treasurer become vacant, the Board shall elect from its own number a successor for such office.
- 10.8 The Board shall fill any casual vacancy on the Board by the appointment of any Member of the Division for the unexpired term of the office bearer ceasing to hold office.
- 10.9 The Chairman shall have the following responsibilities:
- 10.9.1 to nominate the convenors of all subcommittees; and
 - 10.9.2 to nominate a suitable person to investigate complaints lodged with the Division pursuant to the Survey Act.
- 10.10 The Board may appoint an Academic Member under clause 10.2.4 for any period of tenure up to two years.
- 10.11 The Board, when making the appointment required by clause 10.2.7 shall appoint a person:
- 10.11.1 who brings diversity to the Board, including in the form of gender balance; or
 - 10.11.2 who brings diversity to the Board in the form of a user of the services of a surveyor; and
 - 10.11.3 having engaged Members in the nomination of a person to the position.

11. BOARD - Election

- 11.1 Every twelve months, following the end of the financial year, the Registrar shall call for nominations for half of the Board members;
- 11.2 Each nomination for election as a member of the Board shall be made by Members on the prescribed form, and be in the hands of the Registrar at least 14 days prior to the third Friday of the second month following the end of the financial year.
- 11.3 In every case the signed consent of the candidate nominated for election stating that the Member is willing to accept such office if elected shall accompany the nomination paper.
- 11.4 Where nominations are in excess of the number required to fill the vacancies, a ballot of Members entitled to vote will be held.
- 11.5 Where nominations are below the number required to fill the vacancies, the Board then elected shall fill the vacancy or vacancies by the appointment of any Member.
- 11.6 A ballot paper containing an alphabetically ordered list of the names of the offices for which they have been nominated, shall be prepared and forwarded by the Registrar to each Member before the third Friday in the second month following the end of the financial year and shall be returned to the Registrar by mid-day on the first Friday of the third month following the end of the financial year.
- 11.7 Three scrutineers shall be appointed by the Board to examine the ballot papers and report in writing to the Chairman, the names of the successful candidates in alphabetical order, without disclosing the number of votes obtained by each. No candidate participating in the ballot shall be eligible for appointment as a scrutineer.
- 11.8 After the counting of the ballot, all the ballot papers, together with the scrutineers' reports, shall be placed in an envelope by the scrutineers, sealed and handed to the custody of the Registrar, who shall be responsible for the destruction of these records immediately after the Annual General Meeting.
- 11.9 The Chairman of the Board shall announce at the Annual General Meeting the names of the successful candidates elected to office.
- 11.10 In the event of there being an equality of votes for any office, the candidate holding office at the time of the election shall be deemed to be re-elected. Where the equality of votes occurs in regard to two or more candidates, neither of whom holds office at the time of the election the Chairman shall have a casting vote.

12. BOARD - Meetings

There shall be at least four meetings of the Board in each year. A quorum of the Board shall comprise four members. The Chairman, or in the Chairman's absence the Treasurer or any two members of the Board, may at any time require a meeting thereof to be convened or summon a meeting thereof.

13. BOARD – Proceedings

- 13.1 The Chairman shall preside at all meetings of the Board, and if at any meeting the Chairman is not present, within ten minutes after the time appointed, for holding the same, the members present shall choose someone of their number to be Chairman of the Meeting.
- 13.2 Decisions requiring a vote at any meeting of the Board shall be decided by a majority of votes and in the case of any equality of votes the motion shall pass in the negative unless the Chairman, in its absolute discretion, casts a further and deciding vote.
- 13.3 No resolution passed at any meeting of the Board shall be rescinded at any subsequent meeting unless notice of the intention to propose such rescission shall have been given in the circular convening the meeting.
- 13.4 Subject to the provisions of these rules, the Board may make such procedures as it thinks proper as to the summoning and holding of meetings, and for the transaction of business thereat, and may adjourn or postpone any meeting.
- 13.5 A report of the activities of the Division shall be given by the Board at each Annual General Meeting of the Division covering the proceedings since the last Annual General Meeting.

14. BOARD - Powers

- 14.1 The Surveyors Board:
 - 14.1.1 is authorized to exercise all of the powers of the Division, and shall have the sole control, management and superintendence of the property, income, affairs and concerns of the Division and may appoint such officers and sub-committees as shall in its discretion be deemed necessary, make procedures for the conduct of and holding of meetings and if not contrary to or inconsistent with the provision of the rules, may do all such acts as may appear to it to be necessary or desirable for the purpose of carrying out the objects of the Division;
 - 14.1.2 shall have management and control of the obligations of the Division under the Survey Act 1992 and shall exercise all of the powers devolving upon the Division under the Survey Act 1992; and
 - 14.1.3 may from time to time establish Standing Operating Procedures in respect of the matters set out in Rules 14.1.1 and 14.1.2.
- 14.2 Where the Board shall appoint a sub-committee for any purpose, it shall nominate a member of such sub-committee to act as convenor. The convenor so appointed shall be responsible for convening all meetings and doing such things as are necessary to the attainment of the purpose for which the sub-committee was appointed and shall furnish reports to the Board, such reports to be in the hands of the Registrar prior to each meeting of the Board. The Chairman shall be ex-officio member of all sub-committees.
- 14.3 Any member representing the Division in any way shall be responsible for furnishing a report to the Registrar prior to each Board meeting.

14.4 Any sub-committee or member appointed by the Board shall cease to hold office at the Annual General Meeting.

15. **REGISTRAR**

15.1 The Board may appoint a Registrar who shall:

15.1.1 subject to the Act and these Rules comply in all things with the direction of the Board;

15.1.2 perform such duties and fulfil the functions provided for by the Survey Act for the position of Registrar; and

15.1.3 be required to convene all Annual General Meetings and Special General Meetings of the members of the Division in accordance with the resolution of the Board or upon requisition of the Members pursuant to Rule 21.

15.2 The Board may from time to time appoint any person to act temporarily in the place of the Registrar, and the acts of such person shall, for the purposes of these presents, be deemed to be those of the Registrar of the Division.

16. **TREASURER**

The Treasurer shall take charge of the books of account of the office and shall be required:

16.1 to keep an accurate record of the finances of the Division;

16.2 to prepare the accounts of expenditure of the funds;

16.3 to present all the accounts to the Board for inspection and approval;

16.4 to receive all monies belonging to the Division and pay the same to the credit of the Division into such Bank or other financial institution as the Board may from time to time determine;

16.5 to furnish to the Annual General Meeting of the Division a detailed report of the Division's financial position and accompany such report by a properly drawn Statement of Income and Expenditure and Balance Sheet which shall be vouched for and certified to by the Auditors of the Division; and

16.6 to be prepared at all meetings of the Board to give statement of the Division's finances.

17. **FINANCIAL - Provisions and Procedure**

17.1 The Board shall collect all fees due in respect of membership of the Division, and shall retain such fees for the general business of the Division.

17.2 The Board shall cause true accounts to be kept of all sums of money received and expended by the Division, and of matters in respect of which such receipts and expenditure takes place and of all the property, assets and liabilities of the Division.

17.3 All monies belonging to the Division and received by it shall be deposited in the account of the Division at a Bank or other financial institution approved by the Board, and payments of all accounts that are certified as correct by the Board shall be made by either:

17.3.1 By cheque on such Bank or other financial institution signed by any two of the officials appointed as signatories; or

17.3.2 by electronic funds transfer, or credit card payment, by a person authorised by the Board and in accordance with any procedures passed by the Board for such transfers.

18. REGISTRATION AND LICENCE RENEWAL FEES

Members shall pay the registration fee payable under the Survey Act.

19. AUDITORS

19.1 The Auditors shall be those appointed by the Board as the Division auditors.

19.2 The Auditors shall have right of access to the books of account and all relevant documents and shall satisfy themselves as to the accuracy of the finances of the Division as presented in the annual statements of income and expenditure and the Balance Sheet and shall provide an opinion as to whether these records are free from material errors or misstatement and ensure that any errors or deficiencies in these records are communicated through the audit report.

19.3 The Auditors shall be responsible that the financial statements are checked at least seven days prior to the Annual General Meeting.

20. MEETINGS – Annual

20.1 The Annual General Meeting shall be held in the third month after the end of the financial year at such time and place as the Board shall think fit, provided always that, if the Board deems it impracticable, for any reason, to so hold the Annual General Meeting in that month, then the same shall be held at such time as the Board shall nominate, not being more than eighteen months from the date of the last Annual General Meeting.

20.2 At least seven days notice of the calling of the Annual General Meeting shall be given by the Registrar to members of the Division.

20.3 The business of the Annual General Meeting shall include the presentation of the audited financial statements of account, and the report of the Board of the transactions of the past year, the declaration of the election of office Bearers and the consideration of any other business as notified

21. MEETINGS - Special

21.1 The Board may, and shall, upon a requisition made in writing by not less than ten members, convene a Special General Meeting for any purpose contemplated by the objects or purposes of the Division or in connection with its affairs.

- 21.2 Any requisition so made by these members shall express the object of the meeting proposed to be called.
- 21.3 Upon the receipt of such requisition, a Special General Meeting shall be convened forthwith by the Registrar, to be held within twenty eight days from the time of the requisition being so made, and if the same shall not be convened within fourteen days from the time of such requisition being so made, requisitionists or any ten members may themselves convene a meeting.
22. **MEETINGS - Notices**
- 22.1 A notice to be given under these Rules shall be served either personally or by dispatch electronically or through the post in a prepared letter addressed to the person concerned at the address as entered in the Membership List or Register, or at the last known business address, or place of abode of that person.
- 22.2 A notice shall be deemed to have been served at a time when it could be assumed that the same arrived in due course electronically or by post.
23. **MEETINGS - Proceedings**
- 23.1 At any Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting the Chairman of the Board shall preside. In the absence of the Chairman the Members present shall elect one of their numbers to be the Chairman.
- 23.2 Five members of the Division being personally present at any Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting shall constitute a quorum with power to act.
- 23.3 If at any Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting a quorum be not present within thirty minutes after the time appointed for the meeting:
- 23.3.1 in the case of the Annual General Meeting, the business that may be considered shall be restricted to the reception of the annual report and statements of account, and the election of the office bearers and persons to fill other positions; and
- 23.3.2 in the case of a Special General Meeting, the whole of the business of the meeting shall be deferred for consideration at an adjourned meeting.
- 23.4 If at an Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting all the business appointed to be done be not completed, the Chairman, with the consent of the meeting shall adjourn the meeting from-time to time and from place to place.
24. **MEETINGS - Voting**
- 24.1 Any motion or amendment proposed and seconded at an Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting including a motion to amend, alter or mark additions to these Rules not being a motion involving a winding up of the Division shall be put by the Chairman and decided by a majority of the members on a show of hands.
- 24.2 A declaration by the Chairman that a motion has been carried or lost and an entry to that effect in the minutes of proceedings of the Division shall be conclusive evidence

of the fact without proof of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, such motion. A motion if carried shall be a resolution of the Division.

- 24.3 The Chairman of a meeting shall have one vote by virtue of his or her capacity as a Member and upon an equality of votes, shall have a casting vote.
- 24.4 All Members (but not Emeritus Surveyors) shall be entitled to vote on any matters raised in any Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting of the Division.

25. **MEETINGS - Disputes**

In all cases of disputes, doubt or difficulty, respecting or arising out of matters of procedure or order, the decision of the Chairman shall be final and conclusive.

26. **PRIVILEGED COMMUNICATIONS**

All communications, correspondence, reports, minutes and other papers and documents relative to the admission or advancement of members including the reports of the Committees or the suspension or forfeiture of membership of any member shall be privileged and confidential.

27. **SEAL OF THE DIVISION**

The Common Seal of the Division shall be in the custody of the Board. It shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of a resolution of the Board, and in the presence of the Chairman and Registrar, or such other persons as the Board may, from time to time, appoint for that purpose. The Chairman and Registrar, or other persons appointed by the Board, shall sign every instrument to which the seal is so affixed and in their presence.

28. **INDEMNITY OF MEMBERS**

No member of the Board, Office Bearer, Auditor, Registrar, or other officer of the Division shall be liable for the acts, receipts, neglects or the faults of any other member, Office Bearer, officer or committee, or for joining in any receipt or other act for conformity, or for any loss or expense happening to the Division through the insufficiency or deficiency of title to any property required by, or on half of, the Division, or for the Division or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security in or upon which any of the monies of the Division shall be invested, or for any loss or damage arising from the bankruptcy, insolvency of any persons with whom any loss or error of judgment, omission, default or oversight on his own part or for any other loss, damage or misfortune whatever, which shall happen in relation to the execution of the duties of his office, or in relation the etc, unless the same happens through his own wilful default or neglect.

29. **PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE**

29.1 The Division may at any Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting make By-Laws (called 'Professional Practice Rules of the Surveyors Board of South Australia') which shall include rules relating to advertising, supervision, ethics and training. The Professional Practice Rules of the Surveyors Board – Code of Ethics in Appendix A shall be the initial Professional Practice Rules of the Surveyors Board of South Australia and remain until altered by the making of a By-Law.

29.2 All Surveyors and members of the Division shall observe and shall be bound by the Professional Practice Rules of the Surveyors Board of South Australia and all members of The Division shall be bound by the Standing Operating Procedures.

29.3 Any alleged breach of this Rule shall, when brought under the notice of the Board, be investigated, and the Division may exercise such power with respect of the remedying of such breach as it shall deem advisable.

30. **ALTERATION TO RULES**

These rules shall not be amended, altered or repealed except at an Annual General Meeting or at a Special General Meeting at which the members present shall vote in favour of the resolution for amendment, alteration, addition or repeal in accordance with Rule 24.1.

31. **WINDING UP**

Any resolution to wind up the Division shall be a special resolution in accordance with Section 41 of the Associations Incorporation Act.

32. **NOTIFICATION**

32.1 The Division Circular is the formal means of written communication with Members and any document which in the opinion of the Board contains members' information which needs to be brought to the attention of Members.

32.2 A Division Circular is sufficient means to notify any matter to members and Surveyors.

32.3 No member may claim disadvantage of being unaware of such information through not having received a Division circular which has been posted to the address provided to the Registrar by the member or sent electronically to the member by email or facsimile transmission to an email or facsimile address in the records of the Division not less than seven days before a meeting or other event affecting members. The onus lies with members to notify the Registrar in writing of any change of postal address, email or facsimile address.

32.4 A Division Circular shall be posted to all persons on the Membership List of the Division and the Register of Surveyors required to be established under the Act or may be sent electronically by email or facsimile transmissions to the electronic mailing address or facsimile number.

33. **POLICY STATEMENTS**

The Board may prepare Policy Statements and subject to acceptance at an Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting, such policy statements shall be binding on all members.

34. **TRANSITIONAL – Membership**

34.1 Upon the passing of the Special Resolution to adopt this Constitution members classification shall change.

34.2 The Board shall determine the classification of each member in its discretion and allocate a class to that member.

- 34.3 If the Board determines that a member does not qualify as a Member pursuant to Rule 6, such member shall continue as a member with the classification 'Continuing Member' until the end of the current financial year when that members membership shall cease unless that member applies for new membership and has the qualifications specified in Rule 6.